I. INTRODUCTION

This is a Public Records Act Case. Mr. Arthur West, Plaintiff and

Appellant, made a public records act request to the Washington State

Department of Licensing seeking records relating to the fuel tax refund

amounts made to Washington's Indian Tribes from moneys collected by

the States. The Department responded by asserting, improperly, an

exemption that rightly applies to information provided to the State by the

tribes, not to records of fuel tax refund amounts issued by the Department.

Further, the Department missed its own deadlines, refused to produce

simple records, and produced the most readily available, most clearly

responsive records after the Trial Court dismissed Mr. West's case on

summary judgment at the show cause hearing.

This could have been a relatively simple case focused on the

propriety of the exemption claimed — information received from the tribes

and whether it applied to records of money refunded to the tribes by the

Department, had the Department acted in good faith to respond to Mr.

West's request in a timely fashion. Instead, this case demonstrates an

agency complicating and confusing the issue of whether very simple lists

and indexes of money paid to the tribes are actually exempt as

information received from the tribes."



II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

PERTAINING THERETO

1. The Trial Court erred in concluding that the Department of

Licensing properly redacted or withheld records pursuant to

statutory exemption. When the statutes exempt "information from

the tribe or tribal retailers received by the state " from public

inspection and copying, do those statutes exempt disclosure of

amounts ofmoney refunded by the state to tribes? No.

2. The Trial Court erred in concluding that the Department responded

to Mr. West's record requests in a timely manner. Where the

Department waited until after the show cause hearing in this

matter before it disclosed records to Mr. West that the Department

hadpreviously produced to other requestors, and that the

Department had already compiled and available since a date

preceding Mr. West's request, was that response in a timely

manner? Where the Department'sown records indicate that the

Department did not begin its search for certain responsive records

until after Mr. West filed this lawsuit and began conducting

discovery, was that response in a timely manner? No.

3. The Trial Court erred in concluding that Mr. West's lawsuit was

unnecessary to compel the Department to produce the records he
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had requested. Is not the correct legal question for deciding

whether a requestor is the prevailing party whether the records

should have been disclosed on request? Where the Department's

records show that it conducted its searchesfor responsive records

after Mr. Westfiled his lawsuit and began conducting discovery,

was not Mr. West's lawsuit reasonably necessary? Where the

Department silently withheld records from Mr. West until after the

show cause hearing in this matter, was not Mr. West's lawsuit

reasonably necessary? Yes.

4. The Trial Court erred in denying Mr. West's motion for

reconsideration. Where the newly discovered evidence — the

records that the Department silently withheld until after the show

cause hearing — was material and could not have been discovered

with reasonable diligence by Mr. West, should not the Trial Court

have granted Mr. West reconsideration? Yes.

111. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Arthur West, Plaintiff and Appellant, made a public records

act ( "PRA ") request to Defendant and Respondent the Washington State

Department of Licensing, seeking records related to the Department's fuel

tax program, a program where the Department refunds fuel tax money to

federally recognized Indian tribes within Washington, pursuant to
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agreements between the state and the tribes. The Department improperly

responded.

A. Background Facts

Our Supreme Court, in Automotive United Trades Organization v.

State 175 Wn.2d 214, 285 P.3d 52 (2012) ( " AUTO "), described the

factual background of the Department's fuel tax program that is at the

heart of Mr. West's public records request:

To avoid taxing Indian tribes or their members in

Indian Country, in 2007 the legislature amended and added

laws relating to the administration of fuel taxes. S.B. Rep.
on S.B. 5272, 60th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2007). This
legislation authorizes the governor or her delegate to enter
into agreements with any federally recognized Indian tribe
within the state "regarding motor vehicle fuel taxes

included in the price of fuel delivered to a retail station
wholly owned and operated by a tribe, tribal enterprise, or
tribal member licensed by the tribe to operate a retail
station located on reservation or trust property." RCW
82.36.450(1), (5). Such agreements "may provide mutually
agreeable means to address any tribal immunities or any
preemption of the state motor vehicle fuel tax." RCW
82.36.450(1).

Pursuant to this authorization, the State has entered

into fuel tax compacts with various tribes. Under most of

these compacts, the tribes have agreed to comply with
certain statutory requirements in exchange for the State's
refunding 75 percent of the state fuel taxes on fuel

purchased by the tribes or tribal retailers.

AUTO 175 Wn.2d at 220.
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Of the federally- recognized tribes in our State, 17 of them have

entered into a "75 -25 agreement" with the State. CP 1202 -1203. Under

these 75 -25 agreements, a tribe sends the Department invoices for the

purchase of fuel — typically records from those selling fuel to the tribes —

and a tribe will often also send the Department a summary document of

what the tribe believes the refund should be, pursuant to agreement, for

any given month. CP 1202 -1203. The tribes are also required to send the

Department an annual audit of the tribe's fuel records, conducted by an

accounting firm. CP 1203. Thereafter, the Department will issue a refund

to these tribes in the amount of "75 percent of the state fuel taxes on fuel

purchased by the tribes or tribal retailers." AUTO 175 Wn.2d at 220.

Most refunds are issued on a monthly basis.

Besides the 75 -25 agreements, there are also "computational

agreements." CP 1204. Six tribes in Washington have entered into this

kind of agreements. Instead of reporting a tribe's purchases of fuel and

the taxes they have paid, the tribe will report the number of enrolled tribal

members to the State. Then the Department's Prorate and fuel Tax

program will multiply that figure by an "average consumption figure for

annual use of fuel for Washington residents" (promulgated by the

Department of Transportation) and again multiply it by the amount of gas

tax for the current period, in order to determine the amount of the refund.

5



CP 1204. Again, thereafter the Department will issue a refund in the

amount of "75 percent of the state fuel taxes on fuel purchased by the

tribes or tribal retailers" to those tribes who have entered into the

computational agreements with the State. AUTO 175 Wn.2d at 220.

Most refunds are issued on a monthly basis.

B. Facts Specific to this Case

On January 12, 2012, Mr. West made a PRA request to the

Department. CP 89 -90. The Department received it on January 23. Mr.

West sought:

1) All records showing the total amounts of gas tax money given

monthly to each Indian Tribe, 2008 to present;

2) All audit reports concerning the expenditure of such funds; and

3) All communications concerning the disclosure or withholding

of such records, or the propriety of disclosing or withholding

such records, [ J] anuary of 2011 to present.

CP 89. Ms. Hannah Fultz, the Department'sPublic Records Officer,

responded to Mr. West within 5 working days of receiving Mr. West's

request. She sought clarification. CP 93. Mr. West emailed his

clarification to her and Ms. Fultz replied, explaining to Mr. West that she

expected to make the first installment of records available to him on



March 9, more than two months after the Department received Mr. West's

request. CP 98.

Mr. West wrote back immediately, saying:

as far as the total amounts of money paid to the tribes are
concerned, this information is not voluminous and should
be available immediately, especially since it is probably
kept in a computer file to begin with. Please realize that
this request has been pending since January 12, and for
simple records like a one or two page accounting of funds
paid to the tribes, the additional period of time is
unreasonable, especially in light of the long time consumed
in the department's response and c̀larification' process.

CP 97. Mr. West specifically asked:

Please let me know if the Department is actually willing to
disclose the dollar amounts paid to the tribes....

CP 97. Mr. West also made a second request for disclosure of "any

indexes of public records maintained by the department that encompass

the gas tax refund amounts, and any applicable retention and destruction

schedules." CP 97. Ms. Fultz responded within five business days,

acknowledging Mr. West's additional request. CP 95.

Just as Mr. West thought, it was not hard for the Department to

find records of the total amounts paid to the tribes. As early as February

17 — one week after Mr. West's email! — the Department had compiled

responsive records to part 1 ( records showing the total amounts of gas tax

money given monthly to each Indian Tribe, 2008 to present) and to part 2



all audit reports concerning the expenditure of such fields) of Mr. West's

request. "Hey, Hannah, just a reminder that I have the Refund amount

spreadsheets and Audits in hard copy ready for pick -up," wrote a

Department employee on February 17. CP 114. But the Department did

not give those records to Mr. West.

Instead, three weeks later, on March 7, Ms. Fultz wrote to Mr.

West, making the Department's firstpartial disclosure, while still

withholding all the records. She wrote: "Records responsive to items #I

and #2 [ "All records showing the total amounts of gas tax money given

monthly to each Indian Tribe, 2008 to present" and "All audit reports

concerning the expenditure of such funds "] are exempt from disclosure.

Please see the attached Exemption/Redaction Log for details." CP 129;

CP 133 -138.

The exemption log listed "Agreement Compliance Audits" that the

Department was withholding in their entirety. CP 133 -138. But even this

exemption log was not complete. The Department refused to even identify

certain records, save to tell Mr. West that it was withholding them.

Please note that pages #000001 to 000020 aren't listed on the log. The

Department is currently working with our attorneys to determine whether

or not these pages are exempt, either in whole or in part. Pending their

review, and adding in a short time to appropriately document this outcome
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for you, I expect to report the outcome to you by March 16, 2012." CP

129.

Finally, as to item 93 [ "All communications concerning the

disclosure or withholding of such records, or the propriety of disclosing or

withholding such records, January of 2011 to present "], Ms. Fultz wrote:

The Department continues to search for and review records responsive to

item #3. We expect to provide these to you no later than March 23, 2012,

and in installments as they become available." CP 129.

Frustrated with the DOL's inadequate response and with its

blanket statement that the records responsive to his first two items were

exempt from disclosure," Mr. West filed this PRA lawsuit on March 8,

2012. CP 5 -7.

The next day, Ms. Fultz again wrote to Mr. West, responding to his

February request for indexes and for retention and destruction schedules.

CP 165. She wrote. "The outcome of our search and research is there

aren't any responsive identifiable public records to the first component of

your request seeking: Àny indexes that encompass gas tax refund

amounts. "' She described that in the fuel tax refund system, "indexes are

system generated and used by the system to locate records in a quick

manner." She also wrote, "It is not something we can provide (as an

identifiable public record) because it is an operating system controlled

rJ



function." CP 165. Ms. Fultz also provided Mr. West with the retention

and destruction schedules that encompass the gas tax refund amounts.

They included: "Fuel Tax Federal Report and Monthly Statistics Reports,"

Prorate /Fuel Tax Imaging Source Documents and Imaged Refund Invoice

Packet," Monthly Refund Statistics Reports," "Special Fuel Tax Returns,"

and "Fuel Tax Returns." CP 165.

After this last letter, the Department sent no more communications

or disclosures to Mr. West for three months. It was as if the Department

had simply abandoned its response to Mr. West's PRA request. The

Department did not write to him by March 16 (see CP 129) to tell him

whether it had determined that exemptions existed for pages #000001 to

000020, or even to identify those pages in an exemption log pending a

decision on whether the Department would claim exemptions. The

Department did not write to Mr. West by March 23 (see CP 129) to

provide him with records or installments of records in response to his

request #3 (communications concerning withholding or disclosure of fuel

tax refund records). Nor did the Department write to Mr. West to tell him

that it needed more time. It simply ignored, without explanation, its own

self - imposed deadlines.

Meanwhile, Mr. West, represented by counsel, moved to amend

his complaint and filed an amended complaint. He also promulgated

10



discovery requests and noted up deposition of Ms. Fultz, Mr. Patrick

Robinson (the applications manager of the Department's Information

Systems Department), and Ms. Karla Laughlin (the administrator of the

Department's Prorate and Fuel Tax Program).

In her deposition, Ms. Laughlin identified categories of records

that were responsive to Mr. West's request for "All records showing the

total amounts of gas tax money given monthly to each Indian Tribe, 2008

to present," like "a summary document that the refunds unit will produce.

That document will basically confirm or validate the information that the

tribe has provided, and then it will document what the refund should be"

CP 1207); and "a report that we give to the Department of

Transportation" that lists "the monthly refund by tribe, as well as total

refunds for that period of time" (CP 1209).

In her deposition, Ms. Fultz stated that the Department had

completed its search for records responsive to items #1 and #2, and had

disclosed all the records, except for the pages that were still under

discussion with the Department's counsel: "We conducted a search, which

is our normal process, reviewed the records, had consultations and

discussions about those records. The records were exempt, and we

produced an exemption/redaction log, except for, I believe, 21 or 22

pages, which are still under discussion with counsel." CP 1086. Ms. Fultz
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testified that she expected the Department would make a decision within

two weeks (that is, by June 4 -- the Department had originally told Mr.

West it would have an answer by March 16; see CP 129) of whether those

pages -- pages #000001 to #000020 — were exempt. CP 1098.

On June 4, 2012, three full months after the Department's last

communication to Mr. West, Ms. Fultz wrote to Mr. West. She provided a

revised exemption log that eliminated an improperly - claimed exemption

but disclosed no additional records), and informed Mr. West that she

would not yet be able to disclose records #000001 - 000020. Finally, Ms.

Fultz informed Mr. West that she anticipated making another installment

on June 11, 2012. CP 140.

June 11 came and went. More than a month later, on July 6,

another Department employee, Ms. Sara Crosby, wrote to Mr. West. She

provided him with an exemption log (that included both withheld records

and redacted records) and an installment of heavily redacted records. CP

209 -240. The Department did not disclose records #000001 - 000020. Ms.

Crosby did the same on July 10 and July 23. CP 241 -259; CP 262 -323.

The Department did not disclose records 4000001- 000020. All the

records disclosed in the exemption log or produced with heavy redactions

ostensibly pertained to item 41 of Mr. West's requests. The redactions

12



were such that the records are entirely useless; all dollar amounts of

refunds made to the tribes by the Department were completely redacted.

Finally, on July 26, the Department disclosed records #000001-

000020. The Department produced heavily redacted copies of records

000001 - 000020, as well as an exemption log. CP 1246 -1265; CP 1244.

On pages #000001 - 000020, all monthly refund amounts to the tribes had

been redacted. The only dollar amounts that appeared were the total sums

of money refunded to multiple tribes. CP 1246 -1265. Even these are

staggering. The Department refunds tens of millions of dollars of gas tax

money to the tribes each year. CP 1246 -1265.

The Department wrote again to Mr. West on 17 occasions between

July and October. CP 350 -383; CP 385 -492; CP 494 -549; CP 551 -613;

CP 615 -650; CP 652-670; CP 672 -682; CP 684 -692; CP 694 -716; CP 718-

737; CP 739 -748; CP 750 -753; CP 755 -793; CP 795 -847; CP 849 -901;

and CP 903 -1067. The Department disclosed the existence of tens of

thousands of pages of records to Mr. West in exemption logs and in

heavily redacted form.

The vast majority of them were ostensibly in response to Mr.

West's item #1 of his January request. Roughly half of them appear to be

redacted records created by the various tribes either requesting refunds or

in support of their refund requests. That is, roughly half of the records

13



appear to not be responsive to Mr. West's request, since he sought

records "showing the total amounts of gas tax money given monthly to

each Indian Tribe, 2008 to present." A document created by a tribe

containing a refund request, or a refund calculation, does not show an

amount of gas tax money actually given or refunded. Roughly half were

responsive, since they were created by the Department in processing the

tribes' refund requests and showed — before redactions — the refund

amounts. In all of these records, the amounts that were refunded to the

tribes were redacted.

The Department also wrote to Mr. West on November 8, where it

included the first installment of records that were responsive to item #3 of

Mr. West's request — communications related to withholding or disclosure

of records showing the fuel tax refund amounts. CP 1269 -1270. The

Department estimated "we hope to complete your request by the end of

this month [November 30]." CP 1269. The Department wrote again on

November 30, again producing records responsive to item 43 of Mr.

West's request and again revising its prediction., estimating that production

would be complete by "January 11, 2013." CP 1272 -1273

The show cause hearing date was set for December 14. Mr. West

made a request for a CR 56(f) continuance because the Department had

not yet completed its production. CP 1285 -1286. At the hearing, the

14



Department argued, with respect to Mr. West's challenge of the tribal

information exemption found in RCW 82.36.450:

This exemption require the Department to exempt
from public inspection and copying information from the
tribe or tribal retailers received by the state or open to state
review. Mr. West acknowledges in his pleadings that that
exemption clearly applies to, for example, the number of
gallons of fuel that a tribe reports to the Department of
Licensing.

Where the dispute lies is when the Department then
also redacts the monetary amount, so you have a number of
gallons of fuel times a percentage that equals monetary
value. And Mr. West argues, well, that's not the
information received from the tribe. However, such an
interpretation would swallow the exception.

The exception requires the Department or allows
the Department to exempt from public disclosure tribal
information. And by simply — if the Department were to
disclose the value, the monetary amount, all a requester
would have to do is solve for X. There would be no

exception. There would be — the Department would not be
protecting the information received from the tribe.

RP at 14- 15,11. 5 -25; 1. 1, The Trial Court granted summary judgment to

the Department at the show cause hearing, denied Mr. West's CR 56 (f)

request for a continuance, and dismissed Mr. West's lawsuit with

prejudice. RP at 26,11. 8.25. The order signed by the Trial Court

accurately reflected the Trial Court's ruling. CP 1339 -1340.

Not two weeks after the show cause hearing, the Department made

on last production to Mr. West. This production included records

responsive to 43 ofMr. West's requests — communications concerning

15



disclosure or withholding of records with the fuel tax refund amounts —

and records that had been silently withheld and that were responsive to 91

Of Mr. West's request, including records that were most sought by Mr.

West and that he had particularly requested from the Department:

Finally, as far as the total amounts of money paid to the
tribes are concerned, this information is not voluminous
and should be available immediately, especially since it is
probably kept in a computer file to begin with.

CP 97.

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