COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARTHUR WEST,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

DIONNE PADILLA-HUDDLESTON, WSBA # 38356 OID #91020 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Phone: (206) 464-7676

Phone: (206) 464-7676 Fax: (206) 389-2800

E-mail: LALSeaEF@atg.wa.gov

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

2. The Department provided reasonable estimates and timely disclosed records

West argues the Department should be penalized for not strictly adhering to its estimates of the time to produce records. Appellant's Br. at 30. His argument ignores the plain language of the Public Records Act, which merely requires an agency to provide an *estimate* of the time required to respond to a request, not an absolute deadline beyond which records are untimely. RCW 42.56.520. The agency does not need to provide an explanation for its estimate of time. *Ockerman v. King Cnty Dep't of Dev.* &

Envtl. Servs., 102 Wn. App. 212, 217, 6 P.3d 1214 (2001). Given the extent of the search involved, the volume of records collected, reviewed, and disclosed, the number of records requests the Department processes at any given time, and West's intervening lawsuit which further drew upon Department resources, the Department provided reasonable estimates consistent with the PRA.

RCW 42.56.520 provides that upon receiving a request for public records, the Department must respond within five business days either by "(1) providing the record; (2) providing [a web] link . . . to the specific records; (3) acknowledging that the agency . . . has received the request and providing a *reasonable estimate* of the time the agency . . . will require to respond to the request; or (4) denying the public record request."

The comments to the model rules for processing public record requests provide guidance on what factors the court should consider in determining whether an agency's estimate of time was reasonable. First, the comments caution that an agency should not use the same estimate of time for every request. WAC 44-14-04003(6). Next, the comments suggest that an agency should calculate the time it will take to respond to the request, acknowledging that "some very large requests can legitimately take *months or longer* to fully provide." *Id.* (emphasis added). The comments also make clear that "[e]xtended estimates are appropriate when the circumstances have

changed (such as an increase in other requests or discovering that the request will require extensive redaction.)" *Id.* Lastly, the comments acknowledge that there is "no standard amount of time for fulfilling a request so reasonable estimates should vary." *Id.*

A requestor's right to inspect or copy a public record arises then once the agency has had a reasonable period under the Act to complete its response to the request. A record cannot be "wrongfully withheld" during the reasonable period the PRA affords the agency to respond to the request.

a. Request #1

Here, the Department needed additional time to respond to West's Request #1 in order to locate and assemble a huge volume of records and determine whether any exemption applied. CP 85-86 (¶48-49). Request #1 was broad and included "all records showing total amounts of gas tax money given monthly to each Indian Tribe, 2008 to present," "all audit reports concerning the expenditure of such funds," and "all communications concerning the disclosure or withholding of such records, or the propriety of disclosing or withholding such records, january of 2011 ro [sic] present." CP 85-86 (¶48-49), 90 (Ex. F1).

¹⁷ West chastises the Department for producing records for which he claims he did not ask. But it was West who drafted the language of the request and who chose not to narrow his request or otherwise indicate to the Department that the thousands of pages it was disclosing in installments were not responsive. Even if the Department disclosed records not

The Department initially estimated it would provide an installment by March 9, and it did in fact provide an installment on March 7. CP 98, 129-38. At that time the Department informed West it was continuing to review records responsive to parts 1 and 2 of Request #1 and expected report the outcome of its review by March 16. CP 129. The Department also informed West it continued to search for and review records responsive to part 3 and would provide installments as they became available, with the first installment expected March 23. CP 129.

As the Department reviewed responsive records, its search expanded, which required additional time to review additional records. CP 85 (¶48). Further, West filed suit on March 8 and shortly thereafter began conducting discovery. CP 5-6; Appellant's Br. at 11. The Department did not disclose any records on March 16 or March 23 but it continued to work on West's request through the spring of 2012. CP 79-83 (¶¶21-41). Further, it did update West on June 4, CP 140, and began providing regular installments on June 28. CP 202-1072. More than 30 boxes and over 50,000 pages of records needed to be searched, gathered, reviewed, scanned, then produced or withheld. CP 203 (¶6). And, as addressed above, the records contained private tribal fuel tax information; therefore the Department had to analyze each record to determine whether it was required to be withheld or redacted.

strictly responsive to West's request, disclosing too many records is not a PRA violation, and West does not allege a PRA violation on this basis.

CP 85-86 (¶¶48, 49); *see* Washington State Bar Ass'n, Public Records Act Deskbook, § 5.3 at 5-13 (2006) ("Certain types of records may require extensive review before disclosure because of the exemptions that potentially apply to them. Such records may require review by the assigned assistant attorney general....").

RCW 42.56.100 allows agencies to adopt rules that accommodate the agencies' time, resource, and personnel constraints to prevent excessive interference with other essential functions of the agency. Employees within the Department's Public Records Unit are responsible for more than responding to West's requests—they also have competing job duties. CP 75-76 (¶¶3-7), CP 202 (¶2). The Act recognizes that an agency's obligation to respond to public records requests is but one of the many obligations imposed on agencies. RCW 42.56.080, 42.56.100, 42.56.210(1). general, an agency should devote sufficient staff time to processing records requests, consistent with the act's requirement that fulfilling requests should not be an "excessive interference" with the agency's "other essential functions." WAC 44-14-04003(2). That the Act requires the most timely "possible" action on requests is a recognition that an agency is not always capable of fulfilling a request as quickly as the requestor would like. RCW 42.56.100; WAC 44-14-04003(2).

In *Levy v. Snohomish County*, 167 Wn. App. 94, 272 P.3d 874 (2012), the court held that a 59-day response time from Snohomish County to produce one, two-page record was acceptable. *Id.* at 876. Some of the time was spent seeking clarification and some due to mailing delays. *Id.* However, the court noted that the County "timely disclosed, identified, and made available all relevant documents." *Id.* Moreover, the County responded without delay to every request or communication from the requester. *Id.* Likewise, here, the Department responded without delay to every request or communication from West. But in contrast to the one, two-page document produced in *Levy*, the Department produced more than 50,000 pages of records.

Within a month of the Public Records Unit receipt of West's Request #1, the Prorate and Fuel Tax Program sent records to the Public Records Unit. CP 81 (¶28); 114 (Ex. F7). The Department began disclosing these records to West on March 7 and provided additional installments, including records unearthed as it continued to search, on June 28; July 6, 10, 23, 26, 27; August 3, 17, 20, 21, 23, 24, 31; September 18; October 4, 11, 18, 19, 23, 24, and 29. CP 84 (¶46), 147-52 (Ex. F16), 205-07 (¶9). Within five

¹⁸ The Department filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on November 16, 2012. CP 176-201. The Declarations in support of its motion described the Department's search for and production of records through October 31, 2012. CP 75-87, 202-07. Additional installments were provided after October 31 with the last installment being produced on December 27, 2012. CP 1270-71, 1273, 1349-1834.

months of receiving West's Request #1, the Prorate and Fuel Tax Program sent approximately 30 boxes containing approximately 50,000 pages of records to the Public Records Unit. CP 203-04 (¶6). As of October 31, West had received 22 installments of records for a total of 47,363 pages that have been produced to West or accounted for in an exemption log. CP 207 (¶11). Given the sheer volume of records and "tremendous effort" involved, the Department's estimate of time was reasonable, and, as more and more records were discovered, it was reasonable to go beyond that original estimate.

West's reliance on *Violante v. King*, 114 Wn. App. 565, 570-71, 59 P.3d 109 (2002), is misplaced. In that case, an agency failed to produce records within its estimated time and did not produce *any* records until after the requestor filed suit. The only issue was whether the requester's lawsuit was necessary to obtain the requested information. *Id.* at 569. The court did not address whether an agency's failure to meet its own estimated date of production is automatically a PRA violation. The PRA plainly grants additional time when needed to locate and assemble requested records. West has not cited any Washington decision holding that an agency's failure to meet its own initial estimated date of production is, by itself, a PRA violation.

The Department informed West pages #000001-000020 existed on March 7. CP 129 (Ex. F14). The Department advised West it would provide him an update on March 16 as to pages #000001-000020, but it did not provide an update until June 4 and ultimately did disclose the records with redactions on July 26. CP 84 (¶43), 129 (Ex. F14), 140 (Ex. F15), 147-52 (Ex. F16). West claims, without citation to any authority, that in telling him about the records on March 7, but not citing an exemption or providing an exemption log, the Department violated the PRA. Appellant's Br. at 28. What West overlooks is that this is often the case in responding to record requests: an agency identifies responsive records but needs time to evaluate whether the records are exempt. Taking such additional time to clarify the request, locate and assemble the information, and seek legal advice is expressly authorized by the PRA. RCW 42.56.520. That the Department voluntarily informed West pages #000001-000020 existed, but that it was continuing to evaluate the records, is not a PRA violation. To conclude otherwise would undermine the Department's ability to keep requestors apprised of the status of his or her request for fear of giving the requestor too much information. It would also undermine the statutory authority the Department has to take additional time and consult with counsel to properly respond to a request.

The Department also advised West it expected to provide an installment to part 3 of Request #1 by March 23 but did not do so until June 28. CP 84 (\$\quad 45, 46\), 129 (Ex. F14), 147-52 (Ex. F16).

While the Department may have missed its initial estimates of providing additional records to West by March 16 and March 23, it was not because it was ignoring his request. *See* WAC 44-14-04003(6) ("An agency should either fulfill the request within the estimate time or, if warranted communicate with the requestor about clarifications or the need for a revised estimate. An agency should not ignore a request and then continuously send extended estimates."). Rather, Fultz's declaration makes it clear that the Department continued to search for and review responsive records throughout spring 2012. CP 79-83 (¶¶21-41). The Department's delay in providing installments was warranted because of the broad scope of West's request, the discovery of additional records, and the time required to analyze and apply exemptions.

b. Request #2

The Department also timely acknowledged Request #2 and began searching for records. The Department informed West there were no records responsive to the "index" portion of his request on March 9—25 days after receiving the request. The Department's public records officer informed West of her interpretation of "index" and specifically requested

West contact her if he meant something different.¹⁹ CP 87 (¶58), 165-66 (Ex. F19). West did not contact the public records officer, did not indicate he had a different understanding of "index", and made no effort to clarify the meaning of "index." On March 9, the Department produced records responsive to the "retention and destruction" portion of Request #2. CP 87 (¶59); 165-66, 170-75 (Ex. F19).

The Department closed Request #2 on March 23, since no responsive records regarding "index" were discovered, West had not clarified the meaning of "index," and all other responsive records were produced. CP 87 (¶60). There is no agency action to review under the PRA where the agency did not deny the requestor an opportunity to inspect or copy a public record, because the record sought does not exist. Sperr v. City of Spokane, 123 Wn. App. 132, 136-37, 96 P.3d 1012 (2004); see also Kleven v. City of Des Moines, 111 Wn. App. 284, 294, 44 P.3d 887 (2002) (no violation of the PRA because the agency had "made available all that it could find"). The Department acted in accordance with the PRA since it was not required to create or produce a record that is non-existent and it was entitled to summary judgment. Smith v. Okanogan County, 100 Wn. App. 7, 13-14, 994 P.2d 857 (2000).

¹⁹ The Department defined indexes in the fuel tax refund system, in part, as "system generated and used by the system to located records in a quick manner. It is controlled and created by the system and not a file that is produced by the application." CP 165.

West now claims check registers provided on December 27, after the summary judgment hearing, were indexes and that the Department therefore improperly withheld records responsive to his request for any indexes of public records maintained by the department that encompass the gas tax refund amounts. Appellant's Br. at 17, 33. West is incorrect on two grounds.

First, these records were not at issue before the trial court as they were not disclosed until after the summary judgment hearing. While West submitted the records as part of his motion for reconsideration, a motion to which the Department did not have an opportunity to respond, that motion was denied by the trial court.

Second, while West labels the check registers disclosed on December 27 as indexes, Appellant's Br. at 17, CP 17-14-15, on March 9, the Department had informed West of its understanding of index and that it had no responsive records. CP 87 (¶58), 165-66 (Ex. F19). The Department engaged in more than a perfunctory search for the requested "index". It made a good faith and reasonable effort to understand the term "index" and determine if the Department had responsive records. After discussing

The only reference to an "index" in the PRA is in RCW 42.56.070 which requires state and local agencies to have a system of indexing for particular classes of records. The Department of Licensing has implemented this requirement in WAC 308-10-065 and 308-10-067. Neither the statute nor the rules require the Department maintain an index of gas tax refund amounts.

the issue over a two week period, Fultz determined the Department did not have a responsive "index." CP 86-87 (¶¶55-56), 105-07, 156-63, 165-66 (Exs. F5, F18, F19).

Here, in informing West it did not have responsive records, the Department told West how it was interpreting "index," that it searched its fuel tax refund system and the imaging refund invoice packet system, but found no identifiable public records. CP 165-66 (Ex. F19). The Department then invited West to correct or clarify the meaning of "index". West never informed the Department he had a different understanding of "index" or clarified to the Department what he meant by index. CP 87 (¶58), 165-66 (Ex. F19). Ultimately, the Department determined it did not have any responsive records. The Department considered the records that were disclosed on December 27 to be responsive only to Request #1. West cites no reason why the Department's evaluation of its own records is incorrect and any claim to the contrary should be disregarded.

3. West was not entitled to records in any particular order

To support his argument that the Department's production of records was untimely, West further complains that the records provided in the December 27 installment had not been provided earlier. Appellant's Br. at 2-3 (Assignments of Error 2-3). But this does not demonstrate that the overall production of records was untimely. Rather, he complains that

he did not receive the records he happened to have a greater interest in sooner than records he was less interested in.

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